THE SOUTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS

GREENVILLE COUNTY

PLAINTIFF'S NAME,

Shena D. Webb

vs.

DEFENDANT'S NAME,

Legacy at Southpointe

Case No.: 2025-002165

RECEIVED

Dec 29 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Shena D. Webb

107 E Cummings Ave

Hampton, VA 23663

Telephone: (919) 579-9861

Email: shenawebb@icloud.com

Womble Bond Dickinson (US) LLP

Jason D. Wyman

550 South Main Street, Suite 400

Greenville, South Carolina 29601

Telephone: (864) 255-5400

SC Bar No. 100271

Email: Jason.Wyman@wbd-us-com

Attorney

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the action and relief sought

This is an action against The Legacy at Southpointe for breach of contract and negligence. Appellant seeks reversal of the judgment dismissing the initial complaint Rule 12(b)(5) and 12(b)(6) and S, C, Code Ann S 15-3-530(1).

Nature of the Judgment

The nature of the judgment is the dismissal of the Plaintiffs' pleading for insufficient process, and More Definite Statement.

Basis of appellate jurisdiction

Appellate jurisdiction is based on S.C. Code Ann. S. 14-3-310

Effective date for appellate purposes

The Judgement of Dismissal was signed on September 16, 2025, and entered on September 16, 2025. The Notice of Appeal was served and filed on October 17, 2025.

Notice of Appeal

Shena D. Webb appeals the order of the Honorable William C. McMaster III dated September 17, 2025. Appellant received the written notice of entry of this order on October 17, 2025.

Questions Presented on Appeal

- a. Did the trial court error in ruling before considering the process that the plaintiff was told by the Clerk of Court was incomplete?
- b. Did the trial court error in ruling before giving the plaintiff the opportunity to give a more definite statement?

Summary of Argument

Neither the defendant nor the court considered a particular standard of neglect under the South Carolina Nursing Home Bill of Rights.

The plaintiff's pleadings are sufficient to the stated common law negligence claim. The Legacy at Southpointe breached that duty of failing to monitor my husband the late Charles Webb.

Statement of Facts

On 11/2/2021 between 3:30-4:30am, I received a phone call from the Legacy at Southpointe stating my spouse Charles Webb was found in his room unresponsive after the can had made her rounds around 2:00 am. 911 was called and CPR was performed and no response. She then put the EMT responder on the phone and he stated Charles had passed away from cardiac arrest, CPR was performed and no response. At this point I was very upset and could not continue talking, so the administrator asked if she could call my son Tory to convey the situation. The administrator also informed me if I could come down asap to clean out Charles' apartment.

After speaking with my family and making plans, we decided to get on the road that morning. I waited until Charles' doctor's offices opened so I could inform them of his passing. I called his primary care doctor first Dr. Micheal Capps; he was not in that day, so I left a message with his receptionist. I then called his cardiologist Dr. Joseph Falzone, and he was in the office. I told Dr. Falzone what I was told by the administrator and the EMT responder. Dr. Falzone asked me who informed me of the cause of Charles death I told him the EMT responder. Dr. Falzone stated that an EMT responder cannot diagnose cardiac arrest due to performing CPR on a person.

Furthermore, Charles had a pacemaker, and he was on a heart monitor that would detect heart issues, and the monitor would have gone off in his office had there been heart issues. The heart monitor did not go off.

Upon arrival at the Legacy of Southpointe, Shena Webb, (self) Sharna Williams (my cousin), Tory Breece (my son), Ashlei Jones (my daughter), Shenell Armstrong (my sister) we headed to Charles apartment to clean it out. We ran into the nurse who put Charles to bed. She stated she

was shocked to hear the news of his passing when she arrived at work that morning. She stated Charles asked to go to bed after dinner, and that she was the one to put him in bed, she also stated she worked over her shift because the facility was short staffed. We went down to his room and roommate was on his side of the room, he stated he had eaten lunch with Charles and they talked about sports, the roommate stated Charles seemed fine to him. His roommate stated he woke up to his room being filled with a lot of people and Charles was on the floor. Between cleaning his room and taking things to the car, we ran into the one who found Charles in the room unresponsive, my sister asked her what happened and why he was left so long unattended; her response was she did not know.

We finished cleaning out his side of the apartment and headed over to the hospital to view Charles' body. I was given the contact number of the coroner Michelle Bright. In speaking with the coroner to view Charles, she informed me we could not see him and that he was fully dressed in a jogging suit like he was getting ready to go for a run. I then told her, I was told by the nurse he asked to go to bed, so she put him to bed. Charles served in the United States Navy from March 10, 1972, to January 31, 1992. He served in the Gulf war era, Peace time, and Vietnam era. He was an honorable veteran of this country. I found this facility, the Legacy of Southpointe, through the referral of care.com, and the resource for seniors. I was not physically capable of providing the care of that my husband needed and deserved. Charles had a stroke on June 14, 2018, that limited his mobility. He arrives at the Legacy of Southpointe June 25, 2021 until his death of November 2, 2021.

Charles saw both of his doctors before entering the Legacy of Southpointe. He saw Dr. Michael Capps his primary doctor on 5/5/2021 and 6/23/2021 where he filled out his medical paperwork for the facility. Dr. Joseph Falzone is his cardiologist, and he saw him on April 22, 2021 for a device check (his pacemaker), and he performed an echocardiogram with color flow spectral doppler. I called Dr. Falzone again to discuss Charles' passing. Dr. Falzone stated that if Charles had other issues concerning his health, he would have shown signs.

In the Legacy of Southpointe Appendix D: Residents Bill of Rights: To participate in the initial care/service plan (Charles was a Level III patient care; he should not have been left alone for over 6 hours alone.)

Also, Residents Bill of Rights: To have a safe and home-like environment: (the nurse told me that Charles asked to go to bed after dinner, he ate dinner with his roommate. His roommate stated he was fine at dinner. Sometime between Charles going to bed and the can doing her rounds at 2:00 am he was found unresponsive.

The Legacy of Southpointe is negligent in delivering Level III care in the contract that was signed and agreed upon by myself and my late husband Charles Webb.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Preservation of Error

Plaintiff's assign as error the trial court's granting of defendant's motion to dismiss. Defendant moved to dismiss plaintiff's amended complaint without listening to the details of the case.

ARGUMENT

In the Janet Hart case against the Santa Maria Senior Citizens Home was sued due to Janet being overmedicated on antipsychotic according to her daughter. The Carolina News & Reporter documented this where Janet Hart's (who was 78 years old at the time) daughter Tamara Hart took video from her cell phone observing her mother in a wheelchair, crying, and holding a baby doll. There is also video footage (in which Tamara installed in her mother's room) of her bedcovers being forcibly removed and undressing her as well as placing her in a sit-to-stand lift to transfer her to a wheelchair as she is screaming and crying. The nursing home's excuse? She was being combative and abusive toward them. This led them to prescribing her eight antipsychotics that Janet nor her family were aware of.

This story also brings to light the shortage of qualified staff in nursing homes giving the sense that over medicating the elderly is cheaper than hiring more caregivers. It also puts into question, what else are they hiding? This is an example of the violation of the Nursing Home Care Bill of Rights as Janet was not aware of the medication she was taking and the care, she received was neglectful.