THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jan 28 2026

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable William C. McMaster, III
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-002165
Circuit Court Case No. 2024-CP-23-8016

Shena D. Webb, Appellant,

v.

The Legacy at Southpointe, Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

WOMBLE BOND DICKINSON (US) LLP

S. Sterling Laney, III
sterling.laney@wbd-us.com
Jason D. Wyman
jason.wyman@wbd-us.com
550 South Main Street, Suite 400
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 255-5400

Attorneys for Respondent The Legacy at Southpointe

Greenville, South Carolina
January 28, 2026

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether the trial court properly dismissed Appellant's Complaint under Rule 12(b)(5), SCRCPP, where the statute of limitations for breach of contract expired on November 2, 2024, and Appellant failed to serve the Complaint within 120 days of filing, effectuating service more than seven months after filing the Complaint on October 31, 2024.

2. Whether the trial court properly dismissed Appellant's Complaint, to the extent it asserts a medical malpractice claim, where Appellant failed to comply with the mandatory presuit requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-79-125(A), including the submission of an expert affidavit addressing the alleged malpractice.

COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Shena D. Webb, proceeding *pro se*, filed a Complaint on October 31, 2024, in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas, asserting a single cause of action for breach of contract against Respondent. (R. p. ____; Complaint.) Mr. Charles Webb, Appellant's husband, was a resident at The Legacy at Southpointe, an assisted living and memory care facility in Greenville, South Carolina. Unfortunately, Mr. Webb passed away on November 2, 2021. Appellant alleged that Respondent breached a contract in connection with Mr. Webb's passing. The Complaint does not identify any specific contractual provision allegedly breached, nor does it articulate what standard of care was allegedly violated or how Respondent's conduct caused Mr. Webb's death.

On July 7, 2025, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss or, in the alternative, Motion for More Definite Statement pursuant to Rules 12(b)(5), 12(b)(6), and 12(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. p. ____; Motion to Dismiss). The matter came before the Honorable William C. McMaster, III on September 16, 2025. (R. p. ____; Transcript.) Despite

proper notice of the hearing, Appellant did not appear. (R. p. ____; Notice of Hearing.) After carefully considering Respondent's arguments, trial court granted Respondent's Motion to Dismiss. (R. p. ____; Form 4 Order). Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal on October 17, 2025.

COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant's brief discusses at length facts outside the record, including conversations with physicians and observations made while cleaning out her husband's room. These matters were not before the trial court and are not properly before this Court on appeal. *See* Rule 210(h), SCACR; *Weston v. Kim's Dollar Store*, 385 S.C. 520, 538, 684 S.E.2d 769, 779 (Ct. App. 2009), *aff'd and remanded*, 399 S.C. 303, 731 S.E.2d 864 (2012) ("An appellate court's review is limited to facts appearing in the record.").

Appellant's Complaint is sparse, lacking factual detail, and is difficult to decipher. The entirety of the Complaint is reprinted below.

my late husband was found unresponsive at
The ^{Legacy of} Southpointe facility seven hours after
asking to go to med. I feel as though this
facility made a breach of contract in
delivering the proper care of my husband.

Shena D. Webb
10/31/2024

(R. p. ____; Complaint.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court's decision to dismiss a case for insufficient service of process under Rule 12(b)(5), SCRCP is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Christian v. Healy*, 435 S.C. 507, 511, 868 S.E.2d 403, 405 (Ct. App. 2021).

“On appeal from the dismissal of a case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), an appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court.” *Grimsley v. S.C. L. Enft Div.*, 396 S.C. 276, 281, 721 S.E.2d 423, 426 (2012) (quoting *Rydde v. Morris*, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009)). “That standard requires the Court to construe the complaint in a light most favorable to the nonmovant and determine if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case.” *Id.*

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. The Trial Court properly dismissed the Complaint under Rule 12(b)(5), SCRCP for failure to effectuate timely service

The trial court correctly dismissed Appellant's Complaint because Appellant failed to serve Respondent within the time required by South Carolina law. The statute of limitations for a breach of contract action in South Carolina is three years. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(1). Mr. Webb passed away on November 2, 2021, meaning the statute of limitations expired on November 2, 2024.

Appellant filed her Complaint on October 31, 2024 – just days before the statute of limitations expired. However, Appellant did not serve the Complaint until June 6, 2025, more than seven months after filing.

Under established South Carolina law, when a complaint is filed near the expiration of the statute of limitations, service must be effectuated within 120 days of filing. *Mims ex rel. Mims v. Babcock Ctr., Inc.*, 399 S.C. 341, 346, 732 S.E.2d 395, 398 (2012) (“When service

occurs outside of the statute of limitations it must occur within 120 days of filing the complaint."). The 120-day period from October 31, 2024, expired on February 28, 2025. Service on June 6, 2025, was therefore untimely by more than three months.

Appellant argues on appeal that "the trial court error[ed] in ruling before considering the process that the plaintiff was told by the Clerk of Court was incomplete." (Appellant's Brief, p. 3.) However, Appellant offers no legal authority for the proposition that alleged confusion regarding court procedures excuses compliance with the mandatory service requirements. The Rules of Civil Procedure apply equally to *pro se* litigants and represented parties. *Goodson v. Am. Bankers Ins. Co. of Fla.*, 295 S.C. 400, 403, 368 S.E.2d 687, 689 (Ct. App. 1988) ("Lack of familiarity with legal proceedings is unacceptable and the court will not hold a layman to any lesser standard than is applied to an attorney.")

Because Appellant failed to serve the Complaint within 120 days of filing – when the statute of limitations had already expired – her action is untimely and was properly dismissed under Rule 12(b)(5), SCRPC.

II. To the extent Appellant asserts a medical malpractice claim, dismissal was proper for failure to comply with mandatory presuit requirements.

The trial court also properly dismissed any medical malpractice claim because Appellant failed to comply with the mandatory presuit requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-79-125(A).

Although Appellant styled her Complaint as a breach of contract action, the allegations that Respondent failed to provide "proper care" to Mr. Webb and that he was found unresponsive sound in medical malpractice or negligence related to the provision of health care services at an assisted living facility. Appellant's own brief confirms she seeks to assert claims for "breach of contract

and negligence” and alleges that “The Legacy at Southpointe is negligent in delivering Level III care.” (Appellant’s Brief, pp. 3, 5)

South Carolina Code Ann. §15-79-125(A) requires that a plaintiff filing a medical malpractice action “shall contemporaneously file a Notice of Intent to File Suit” and an expert affidavit addressing the alleged deviation from the standard of care. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-79-125(A). Appellant did not file a Notice of Intent to File Suit or submit any such affidavit with her Complaint or at any time prior to the hearing on the motion to dismiss. As the trial court found, “to the extent Plaintiff is alleging a medical malpractice claim, she failed to support her Complaint with an expert affidavit addressing such an allegation.” (R. p. ___; Form 4 Order.) Appellant’s failure to comply with the mandatory presuit requirements independently warrants dismissal of the Complaint to the extent it is construed as asserting a negligence or medical malpractice claim.

III. Appellant’s Arguments on Appeal Lack Merit

Appellant raises two issues on appeal: (1) whether the trial court erred “in ruling before considering the process that the plaintiff was told by the Clerk of Court was incomplete”; and (2) whether the trial court erred “in ruling, before giving the plaintiff the opportunity to give a more definite statement.” Neither argument warrants reversal.

As a threshold matter, Rule 208(b)(1)(E), SCACR requires an argument section organized around the issues on appeal, supported by analysis, citations to authority, and references to the record. Appellant’s “argument” does none of that. It recounts an unrelated media story and provides no authority or record citations connected to the issues presented. Because Appellant never actually argues the issues raised, those issues are abandoned. *See Fields v. Monroe Ltd.*

P'ship, 312 S.C. 102, 106, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct. App. 1993) (“An issue raised on appeal but not argued in the brief is deemed abandoned and will not be considered by the appellate court.”)

Regardless, even if these issues were properly before the Court, they fail on their individual merits. First, Appellant’s argument regarding the "incomplete" process is procedurally and substantively deficient. Appellant provides no citation to the record demonstrating what the Clerk of Court allegedly told her, nor does she cite any legal authority excusing late service based on alleged communications with court personnel. The 120-day service requirement following expiration of the statute of limitations is mandatory, and Appellant’s subjective belief that the process was “incomplete” does not excuse her failure to serve the Complaint for more than seven months. Second, Appellant’s argument that she should have been permitted to file a more definite statement is unavailing. The trial court granted dismissal on the independent ground that service was untimely under Rule 12(b)(5). Once an action is dismissed for insufficient service, there is no complaint pending to be amended or clarified. Moreover, the trial court was not required to allow amendment where Appellant's cause of action was time-barred. *Red Oak Lands, Inc. v. Lane*, 268 S.C. 631, 636, 235 S.E.2d 718, 720 (1977) (affirming the trial court’s decision to deny the plaintiff leave to amend because the statute of limitations had expired, making any amendment futile).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court affirm the trial court's order dismissing Appellant’s Complaint.